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INSIDE: Federal indictments McGovern voter drive 
underway in Missoulaagainst the UM 5 and their answers
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TWO PERSONS DINED In the University Center plants growing In the planter. (Montana Kaimln photo 
yesterday and left a snack of potato chips, oilves, pic- by Randy Rasmussen.)
kies and other assorted litter behind for the green

By Robert Gibson 
Staff W riter

The McGovern fo r president can­
vassing campaign in Missoula is in 
fu ll swing, according to Shaun 
Thompson, chairman o f the 
McGovern fo r President C lub of 
Missoula.

“The campaign in Missoula is go­
ing to be the most thorough in the 
state,” Thompson said.

“ Due to lack o f funds, we cannot 
run an expensive, mass-media 
campaign like the Republicans 
p lan to ,”  Thom pson  no ted . 
“ Therefore, our campaign is en­
tire ly a grassroots operation," he 
said.

The campaign is being run in five 
stages. The firs ttw oen ta iled reg is ­
tration drives.

The firs t stage was aimed at 
registering students. Efforts in­
cluded placing deputy registrars 
on cam pus w h ile  s tud en ts  
registered fo r classes. Several 
concerts and dances also were 
held in which students who had 
already registered to  vote could 
get in free. Deputy registrars were 
at the doors of the dances and 
concerts to register students not 
already registered.

Thompson said 1,194 students 
were put on the voter rolls as 
students were registered at the 
dances and concerts.

The second stage of the can­
vassing was aimed at registering 
townspeople in Missoula, Mineral 
and Ravalli counties. Thompson 
said his group campaigned door- 
to-door rather than by telephone.

Each voter was asked to f ill out a 
questionnaire stating to what 
degree he was fo r o r against 
McGovern. With those, Thompson 
said, the amount of tim e put into 
the campaign can be cut, because 
campaigners w ill not nave to con­
tact voters who are either strongly 
for o r strong ly against McGovern. 
Attention can be focused on voters 
who are undecided o r not- so 
strongly committed that the ir vote 
cannot be changed.

A ny person w h o  was not 
registered to vote was registered in 
this phase of the campaign.

As of October 8, the firs t two

Implications of strip mining  
major topic of UM seminar

CB athletic cut made up by

The economic and social im­
plications of projected coalfield 
development in eastern Montana 
will be the major top ic o f dis­
cussion in an environmental 
sem inar be ing he ld at the 
University of Montana th is quarter. 
The seminar is directed by Robert 
M c K e l v e y ,  p r o f e s s o r  o f  
mathematics, and w ill be held each 
Thursday in LA 11 from 7 to 9 p.m.

The possible scope of coalfield 
development has been outlined in 
the Bureau of Reclamation's 
“ North Central Power Study." Ac­
cording to that report nearly half 
the nation’s recoverable coal is 
located in eastern Montana, 
W yom ing a n d '  the w este rn  
Dakotas. This area constitutes the 
Northern Plains coalfield.

The study estimates that mine- 
mouth generating plants could 
produce 53,000 megawatts of 
power by 1990. This is more than 
the total current output of 
Germany, England or Japan.

As possible dimensions of the 
development have become known, 
public reaction has been intense 
and divergent, McKelvey remarked 
in a report prepared for his en­
vironmental studies seminar.

His report describes problems in­
volving land reclamation, po llu tion 
and water usage which Montanans 
may encounter because o f the 
world-w ide “energy crisis.” '

McKelvey said there seems to be 
no ag reem ent ab ou t w hat 
successful land reclamation is or 
how much it w ill cost. Genuine 
reclamation is often not possible to 
obtain or enforce, he added.

If the contemplated generating 
complex is built, air po llu tion from 
sulfur and nitrogen oxides would 
become a problem that could be 
relieved only by future im­
provements in the technology of 
control devices, McKelvey said in 
his report.

Other problems mentioned in 
McKelvey’s report involve water 
development, aqueducts and ex­
panded storage reservoirs to 
service the coalfields.

If the high plains and mountain 
states had to supply the Great 
Lakes and West Coast states with 
power, transmission lines would 
have to be bu ilt across our plains 
and down our river valleys, 
McKelvey said. Alternatives would 
be very costly.

By John Pearson 
Montana Kaimin Reporter

Student admission fees alone w ill 
not make up the $42,000 Central 
Board cut from the athletic budget 
if student turnout at the firs t home 
game is an indication. But ticket 
sales from  other sources should 
more than make up the funds cut.

Gary Hughes o f the T icket Office 
estimated that a little  more than 
$2,000 came from student ticket 
sales fo r the University of Mon­
tana-Northern Arizona University 
game played September 23.

Other sources of revenue fo r that 
first game according to Hughes’ 
figures were: $2,184 from  1,400 
Century Club tickets; $900 from 
300 faculty-staff season tickets, 
and $3,500 from 700 regular 
season tickets; $2,000 from  the 
sale of 400 reserved-seat tickets at 
$5 each, and $1,800 from  600 
general admission tickets.

Based on these estimates, total 
receipts amounted to $12,548.

The Grizzlies play four home 
games this year. If attendance 
remains the same o r increases, 
revenues from home games 
should bring $50,192 or more.

The A thletic department has in­
creased prices to raise money:

•  Reserved seats at football 
games went from  $1 to $5; high 
school-grade school and general 
admission tickets were raised from 
50 cents to $2.50 and $3 respec­
tively.

•  In basketball, reserved seat 
prices were raised 50 cents, to 
$2.50; a $2 general admission fee 
was begun, and high school-grade 
school tickets went from  50 cents 
to $1.50.

•  The fee fo r using the field house 
was raised from $250 to $300, and 
the athletic department has sold 42 
cushioned seats to the Century 
Club at $500 a pair, fo r a total of 
$10,500.

U n ive rs ity  P res iden t R obert 
Pantzer said Thursday he was a lit­
tle disappointed in the budget 
situation, because he had thought 
last spring there was valid 
agreement about the matter since 
student office campaigns were 
heavily built around reductions; 
but in reality it may have been the 
result o f individual actions by a few 
students. “ At least we’ll be able to 
test it," he said. " I ’d like to see how 
it does come out.”

In the last ASUM election Student 
Body President Robert Sorenson'1 
ran on an election platform that ad­
vocated a 25 per cent reduction in

phases of the campaign w ill be 
complete because voter regis­
tration w ill close. Democrats w ill 
then launch what Thompson 
called a "three-pronged attack.”

The firs t part w ill entail telephon­
ing every registered voter in the 
telephone book. These people w ill 
be asked what campaign Issues 
most concern them. If they say 
they would like more information 
on the subject, they w ill be mailed 
literature explaining McGovern's 
views on the subject.

The second part w ill entail more 
door-to-door canvassing. Cam­
paigners w ill contact the people 
who said they are undecided o r not 
strongly fo r either candidate. 
These voters w ill be asked what is­
sues most concern them, and then 
w ill be given inform ation about 
that issue.

The final part is being run for 
Thompson by Duane Johnson, 
chairman of Labor fo r McGovern 
in Montana. Johnson and a crew of 
laborers w ill go through the fac­
tories and m ills in the Missoula 
area solic iting votes fo r McGovern. 
Men also w ill be posted at plant 
gates at qu itting time to  make sure 
every worker has plenty o f in­
formation, Thompson said.

Field House 
rental disputed
Jim Scott, Program Council direc­
tor, said last week he th inks it un­
fa ir that the athletic department is 
not required to  pay a set fee fo r 
rental o f the Field House.

As alternatives, he proposes that 
either the rental charge to Program 
Council be dropped, o r that the 
athletic teams pay a set fee fo r ren­
tal of the Field House.

Earl Martell, fie ld house manager 
and athletic business manager, 
said field house administrators 
and the athletic department each 
get 50 per cent o f the gate receipts 
from ath letic events.

Martell said field house ad­
m inistrators pay most of the 
basketball expenses except fo r the 
game offic ia ls ' salaries, the erec­
tion and removal of practice 
baskets and the guarantees 
between schools. The guarantees 
are money which the home team 
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ticket sales
the student funding of athletics. 
Following the election Central 
Board reduced the ath letic budget 
from $147,000 to $105,000 fo r the 
current fiscal year.

Pantzer said perhaps there should 
be a committee of adm inistration 
offic ia ls and students to  study the 
situation, because changes in 
athletic funding policies in the Big 
Sky Conference may come in the 
next couple of years.

According to an article by sports 
writer Don Brunell in The Mis- 
soulian September 22, conference 
presidents have taken action to 
lim it the number of scholarships 
given by each Big Sky school to 
110, have put controls on federal 
work-study and econom ic op­
portunity grants fo r both o ff- and 
on-campus jobs, and are attempt­
ing to stabilize and equalize, 
athletic spending.

Pantzer said he was hopeful that 
combined revenues from  basket­
ball and football would cover the 
$42,000 cut. According to figures 
provided by Earl Martell, field 
house director, total attendance at 
basketball games last year was 
about 39,000, and total income was 
about $29,000. The athletic 
department estimates total income 
this year, w ith the increased fees, 
to be about $32,000.



editorial, letters
HENRY S. ‘NON-SEQUITUR’ HIBBARD
Probably the firs t man to  take issue w ith  
D em ocratic Sen. Lee M etcalf these days is h is 
Republican cha llenger, Henry H ibbard. H ib ­
bard, who in an early cam paign press release 
vowed to  run a “ c lean”  cam paign, has w asted no 
op po rtu n itie s  to  a ttack both M e tca lf’s record 
and his ph ilosophy. Indeed, w om e o f the  a ttacks 
have m erit, depending on y o u r po litica l 
ph ilosophy and econom ic  in te rests. On the  
o the r hand, some seem som ew hat irra tiona l.

For example, the fo llo w in g  quo tes are from  a 
H ibbard press release dated A ugus t 28:

"At the Montana Press Association meeting held 
in Miles City, August 19th, Senator Lee Metcalf 
publicly endorsed wholeheartedly the can­
didacy of Democratic nominee for President, 
George McGover. In his address to the group, 
Metcalf pointed out that he had voted with 
McGovern in the Senate 82% of the time and had 
worked closely with McGovern through his 
government career.
"It must be assumed that Senator Metcalf also en­
dorses the amnesty statement as written in the 
Democratic platform considering his whole­
hearted support of George McGovern.
"Adding weight to that assumption is the fact 
that Metcalf voted June 8, 1971, for the Gravel 
Amendment to the Draft Bill which would let 
the five year Statute of Limitations on failure to 
register for the draft run out when the man is 18 
rather than 26.
“Senator Metcalf, by lending his support to a 
proposed program of amnesty for people who 
have forsaken their country, is doing a disservice 
to those who did fight and in many cases died. 
"What about these men that did make the choice 
to enter military service. I can’t help but think 
many of them devoted many hours of thought 
to what their choice might involve.

“Unlike Senator Metcalf, I find it impossible to 
understand why we should grant amnesty to 
people who have obviously washed-their hands 
of their country and in effect renounced it by 
leaving it.”

There is more. The above sta tem ent is o n ly  a 
partia l s tatem ent o f Mr. H ibba rd ’s fee lings, b u t it 
re flects  his log ic . He assum es M etca lf’s po s itio n  
on the basis o f one vote  on an am endm ent to  a 
b ill w h ich  fa iled  and on the  m an’s a lleg iance  to  
G eorge M cG overn. Then he trum pe ts  h is v iew s 
on anm esty, w h ich  a ren ’t  a ll th a t cons idera te .

For instance, now here in h is release (no. 19 fo r  
those w ho w ant to  read it) does H ibbard  con ­
s ider tha t the re  is a d ra ft law  w h ich  coe rced  
thousands o f u n w illin g  you ng  m en in to  the  
m ilita ry  service o r  fo rced  them  to  vo lu n te e r fo r  
an a lte rna tive  service to  escape a s tin t in V ie t­
nam.

Q u ick ly  H ibbard (o r h is press w rite r) assum es 
because young m en have refused to  f ig h t in V ie t­
nam they have washed th e ir  hands o f th is  co u n ­
try. And now here in  the  release does H ibbard  
cons ide r the po ss ib ility  the re  was n o t  an avenue 
open to  som e you ng  m en w ho  fled  th e  d ra ft. 
However, his release states he has fac ts— “ p ro o f 
tha t there w ere o th e r do o rs  open to  them . . .”

H ibba rd ’s gu t reaction  on the  am nesty question  
seems ne ither cons idera te  o f h is o p po nen t no r 
pa rticu la rly  w e ll-th o u g h t ou t. In sho rt, it  is no t 
pa rticu la rly  cons idera te  o f the  fee lin gs  m any 
co llege  students ho ld  abou t a p rob lem  w h ich  
■concerns them  deeply. One m ust rem em ber th a t 
in November.

D. Larson

Go to Freddy’s, not Larry’s

Editor. Once again, students have been subjected to the usual 
quarterly ripoff, but this time with a difference: it’s worse than ever 
before. Anyone who has purchased text books at the Associated 
Students Store knows exactly what I'm talking about.

The only concern this monopoly has shown for the student’s pocket 
book is the blatant pilferage thereof. Even sadder, the gross inflation of 
text book prices will undoubtedly continue unchecked, since unlike 
other monopolies, this one has no public service commission to which it 
must answer. In a like manner, the inefficiency of Store Board in this area 
is history.
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A lengthy boycott of the Store probably would help to rectify the 
problem, but such a boycott would work only if there were another 
source to purchase books. Professors, please help halt this University 
sanctioned brigandage. Order your texts from Freddy’s. There, they give 
students a 15 per cent break when they can, which is most of the time.

By the way, since the Associated Students have nothing to do with the 
Associated Students Store, it might be in the best interests of their 
integrity for them to seek to remove their name from it. If the name were 
changed to “Associated Shylocks" Store, they could keep the same 
initials, ASS.

Dennis Hall senior, music
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Students of the University of Montana. The school of 
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but assumes no responsibility and exercises no con­
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mittee of Central Board. The opinions expressed on 
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Subscription rates: $2.50 per quarter, $7 per school 
year. Overseas rates: $3.50 per quarter. $9 per 
school year. Represented for national advertising by 
National Educational Advertising Service, Inc., 360 
Lexington Ave.. New York, N.Y., 10017. Entered as 
second class matter at Missoula. Montana, 59801

Field House rental
page 1 —

pays its opponent to help cover 
travel and other expenses.

Martell added that in the coming 
year, a larger portion of the gate 
returns will go to the athletic 
department and it, in turn, will pay 
more of the expenses the field 
house administrators now pay.

A recreational facilities council 
which will determine the policy on 
rental of the Field House is in the 
process of being formed, George 
Mitchell, UM administrative vice 
president, said. He added that the 
committee's recommendations 
will be voted on at the October 
Faculty Senate meeting.

“I really
like the thought, 
but we’re going 
to have to do 
something about 
the wording”

joaaqiM

THE GROG SHOPPE

Mitchell said the athletic 
department contributes toward 
operational costs of the Field 
House and also toward the 
retirement of bond obligations of 
the building, which he said are 
similar to paying a rental fee.

The rental fee for the Field House 
was increased $50 this year 
because it is now larger and more 
expensive to operate, Martell said. 
He added that there has not been a 
rent increase in the last 19 years. 
The cost is now $300 a day plus the 
handling of ticket sales.

Rainier!

Party N igh t — Party N ight

S ch o o n e rs  —  T w e n ty  C en ts  

P itch e rs  — S e ve n ty -five  C en ts

6-10 p.m. 427 N. Higgins

“Okay, you’re on. W here’s the table?”

TRYOUTS FOR VARSITY BOWLING

Men and Women 

Tuesday, Oct. 3 

4 P.M.

At

UM RECREATION DEPARTMENT

FRESHMEN ELIGIBLE

UGKKMBE
SATURDAY, O C T ?  1972 9 P M . 

UNIVERSITY CENTER BALLR O O M  
STUDENTS $ 2 .0 0  G E N . PUB. $ 3 .0 0  

$ .5 0  INCREASE AT THE D O O R  

TICKETS AVAILABLE AT 

U C .TICKET OFFICE 

&  M ERC ANTILE RECORD SHO P
PRESENTED BY ASUM PROGRAM COUNCIL



Federal indictments returned in work-study case
Editor’s note: Reprinted entire ly below is the ind ictm ent o f  five University 
o f Montana offic ia ls on charges o f conspiracy to defraud the federal 
government through the illegal use o f work study funds.

Also reprinted is Sec. 371, Title 18, United States Codes, under which A d­
m inistrative Vice President George M itchell, A th le tic  D irector and Head 
Football Coach Jack Swarthout, Assistant Coach B ill Betcher, form er 
Assistant Coach Jack Elway, and A th le tic Department Business 
Manager Earl M artell were charged; also, the defendants’ m otions fo r 
dismissal are reprinted, in  the ir entirety.

The indictm ent was announced Ju ly  19 by a B illings federal grand jury. 
The five were arraigned Aug. 7 and plead not guilty. M otions fo r dism issal 
were filed in  federal d is tric t court in  early September.

U.S. Atty. Otis Packwood is expected to answer the m otions soon. Trial 
date has not been set.

Section 371, Title 18, United States 
Codes:

Conspiracy to commit offense or 
to defraud United States.

“ If two or more persons conspire 
either to  commit any offense 
against the United States, o r to 
defraud the United States, o r any 
agency thereof in any manner or 
for any purpose, and one o r more 
of such persons do any act to

effect the object o f the conspiracy, 
each shall be fined not more than 
$10,000 or imprisoned not more 
than five years, or both.

If, however, the offense the com ­
mission o f which is the on ly  object 
o f th e  c o n s p i r a c y ,  is a 
m i s d e m e a n o r  o n l y ,  t h e  
punishment fo r such conspiracy 
shall not exceed the maximum 
punishment provided fo r such 
misdemeanor.”

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MONTANA 

MISSOULA DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. 
Plaintiff, 

v.
GEORGE L. MITCHELL. HAROLD 
JACK SWARTHOUT. JOHN ELWAY. 
WILLIAM D. BETCHER. and 
EARL W. MARTELL.

Defendants.

Criminal No. 4469

(18 U.S.C.. 371
and 1001)

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

COUNT I

i VT®8 mate,ial herein’ ,ha Depar,men'  o f Heal" '.  Education and Welfare, an agency o f the 
°J.A™ ,'ca' was taaPOnsible tor administering student financial aid programs known as the

College work Study Program, the Educational Opportunity Grants Program, and ihe N a t lo J S T S . " ^  
student Loan Program, pursuant to Parts A and C of Title IV o l the Higher Education Act o l 1965 tp  L aa-toot
? J S ad andJ ,' la “  01 lhe National Defense Education Act o t 1958 (P.L. 85-864). as amended, and the 
regulations issued pursuant thereto.

phal “  * " ,imes material herein, the University of Montana, Missoula. Montana, was an Institution o t 
e M h r i d ,' ” ° ePanmen' 01 Mea'td. Education and Welfare for participation in such finan- 
Ftellth byanannua'  agreement entered into by the University and the Department of

th^mundm W M<:h rear since 1965. thereby permitting eligible members of the student body

i i  ? ! *.’  aH limas material herein, the defendants GEORGE L. MITCHELL. Administrative Vice-President 
Umveraity of Montana. HAROLD JACK SWARTHOUT.. Athletic Diractor. University of M o ^ n .  J?HN

V ? ? ! ’.  '.F lb a  Coach' u " lverei,y  o ' Montana. WILLIAM D. BETCHER, Assistant Football Coach 
r a ™ T n ,  anl f i RL W MARTEU"  Business Manager. Athletic Department. Univeralty o f Mon-' 
^ u Z r n  wara in ,a re s ,e d a n d  involved with the recruitment or maintenanceoi student athletes under the above financial aid programs.

the am0" 9 ° ,har ,hin9s- " W « * d  criteria o f eligibility based upon
tne financial need of the student and performance of useful work by such student ParticiDatina mst itinn* 

10 e8tabll#h and maintain a Proper system for determining the financial need of eachrtudent 
applicant desiring assistance under the Work Study Program as well as maintenance o fX q u a T e  true and

“ ! r aW ai,̂ n ? ,ar ., l M r n ; P?n 'Cipa“ OT in ,ha p,° 9 ' a,n' a"  appb records being s u b le t to audit and review by the Department of Health, Education and Welfare.

oreoarmtonn«9n!|h?n !fn’S I T . ! " *  adaqua,a compliance within the College Work Study Program was the 
S S . * j . a|y , l l < '  time sheets reflecting the actual hours o f bona fide employment on the part of 

S ir r r  *  ae,a baln°  prapa,ed and appro,'d  py # »  department within which

E!  I ! ] *  Educational Opportunity Grants Program and the National Delense Student Loan Prooram

s ?  r r r r  a"8ibiii,y ̂  up°n«"•"<*" ^aciory level of academic performance by such student.

f in a n d ? l 'S o l  ^ K m . ^ T a,IadU!dad £  M ,a0' i>h and main,aln > prpper »Y*em for determining the 
and h * , dent applicant de8ir|ng assistance under the financial aid programs such system

d records being subject to audit and review by the Department o f Health. Education and W elfare** ^

,  ab° ul January 1.1967. and continuously thereafter through on or about April 15 1972 the
eaact dates being unknown to the Grand Jury In the District o l Montana and elsewhere

r . r , GE.OPGE L M'TCHELL, HAROLD JACK SWARTHOUT. JOHN ELWAY w il l ia m  n  a c m u c s  
EARL W MARTELL. defendants herein, and Calvin L. Murphy. Harley W Lewis and Georoe M Heathrote

^ ; z r , r n c o, n . t T an,\ ynT ? ! ! F'

EH f  as - assn  Tzzr&xzsjz
impede bvcrah t r i T '  “ T  con,edarate. and conspire to hamper, hinder, frustrate, defeat impair and

s B s j E S S S S s ^ s w a ^ “« a w

Departman, through ,h ,  p ro c « d ,
student. a program payments received by the

s S S S - S E ^ ? « a g f B 8sasBS=

cwi ,o,na in>,i,u,i° - 1 « »
necessary to property evaluate the financial need of any

nimes^oj t^eV a ri'ic^p a t^g ^u^m rT n d  DurMrhna1)*!,'!?!^00018 W° U! d ' upon receipt o l checks Issued In the 

improperly comrert the p rw e ^s 'to e rT O M jyh rrte ix^ tir^ 'th r^T n  to*T-Art>!etlc*Stud!MirFun<l"*d **udan*a’

, OVERT ACTS

covery, the defendants a n t T « ^ o n s p ^ ( ^ M c m ? a n a Cand1e[e0f h°d l°  preven*i,s dls_ 
others, the following overt acts: Montana and elsewhere, commit among

„  '  * ° n pr aboul. ’  September 1971, Jay William Baumberger, a student who had been recruited on a ’lu ll
r  de athletic grant In aid, was advised by WILLIAM D. BET CHER, defendant, that he. Baumberger. had been 
switched to Work-study and his job title was tutor.

•A,— 2l ° n 1 February 1971 • Anthony Frustacl. a student in the College Work Study Program
m  Y  defendant WILLIAM D. BETCHER to pay the income tax on th£ earnings

credited to him which he had turned over to the Athletic Department.

. . .  3J  ° "  ° r  about 1 October 1971, Michael L  Hubbard, a student in the College Work Study Program was 

2 2 , 2 ^ 2 2  2 , k  JACK SWARTH0UT a" d 0a° '9a M — spl ^ r .  * 2 ,  playTng

#_w  £  Between September 1970and May 1971. Richard James Morris, a student on College Work Study was 
toid by Harley W. Lewis, co-conspirator, that working out and keeping himself in good physical condition was 
his job under work study. " "

n i „ I ha.aa'd. ? T dan“  did do *nd  cause to be dona tha acts sal forth In the succeeding counts o f this in­
dictment on the dales and at Ihe places and In the manner therein set forth, a ll o f which are incorporated 
herein by reference as though fully set forth and made a part hereof as overt acts.

In violation of Section 371 of Title 18 o f the United States Code.

COUNT II through 32
11) The Grand Jury re-alleges the allegations In paragraphs 1 through 6 In Count I o t this Indictment all of 

heraofenUm<>r* t°d para9,apha >,a incorporated herein by reference as though fully set forth and made a part

„ HKf>  ° T  ab?ul ,be da,aa haraln balow ,orth ln ,ha District o f Montana In a matter that la. the above des­
cribed student financial aid programs, within the jurisdiction o f the Department o f Health. Education and 
U S !n ra' an a9ancy ° '  the United States, the defendants GEORGE L. MITCHELL HAROLD JACK 
SWARTHOUT. JOHN ELWAY. WILLIAM D. BETCHER. and EARLW. MARTELL.did unlawfully, wllfu liyand 
! " “ " n 9 ly ' als',y «nd cause fo be falsified material tecta, that Is to  say. the said defendants did execute and 

executed and approved, time sheets for the months designated, thereby reflecting 
2 5 * ® *  Moment athlete whose name appeared thereon fo r the time indicated herein below, performed work 
whereas in truth and in fact as the said dafAndunt than «nH tham man kaam ..m k _a -u ..__ .. .
perform the hours o f work indicated.

Count Monthly Period 
Covered By Time 

Sheet, Ending
2 12/15771
3 11/15/71
4 12/15/70
5 3/15/71
6 1/15/71
7 10/15/71
8 11/15/71
9 3/15/71

10 11/15/70
11 12/15/70
12 7/15/71
13 3/15/71
14 12/15/71
15 11/15/71
16 11/15/70
17 12/15/70
18 11/15/70
19 1/15/71
20 11/15/70
21— 2/15/70
22 12/15/70
23 3/15/71
24 11/15/70
25 12/15/71
26 9/15/71
27 11/15/70
28 12/15/71
29 3/15/71
30 12/15/70
31 1/15/71
32 10/15/70

Student's Name Hours
Worked

Robert J. Door nek—63 
Jay William Baumberger—63 
Anthony P. Bozzo—60 
Anthony P. Bozzo—56 
Ronald C. Brown—63 
Michael G. Dillon—63 
Michael G. Dillon—63 
Mark L. Doane—57 
Dennis L. Fald—60 
Kevin R. Flagler—63 
Thomas W. Seeley—60 
Martin A. Frustaci—60 
Walter L. Gaskins—63 
Michael L. Hubbard—60 
Wade Jacobsen—60 
Wade Jacobsen—63 
Howard E. Johnson—60 
Howard E. Johnson—60 
Leonard C. Johnson—66 
Leonard C. Johnson—57 
Leslie Kent—63 
Leslie Kent—60 
Warren H. Kottke—60 
Warren H. Kottke—63 
Jim D. Leid— 168 
Lawrence Miller—60 
Lawrence Miller—83 
Richard J. Morris—60 
Earl B. Tye—63 
John Waxham—60 
Thomas S. McMahon—66 

In violation of Section 1001 of Title 18 United States Codes.

A TRUE B ILL 

OTIS L. PACKWOOD 
United States Attorney for the 
District of Montana

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MONTANA 

MISSOULA DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

Plaintiff, 
vs.

GEORGE L  MITCHELL HAROLD 
JACK SWARTHOUT. JOHN ELWAY.
WILLIAM D. BETCHER. and EARL 
W. MARTELL

Defendants. ___________

COMES NOW the Defendant Earl Martell and moves the Court:

1. To dismiss the indictment on file herein for failure to state an offense against the laws o f the United 
States and in violation of 18 U.S.C. 371, and 1001.

2. To dismiss the indictment on file herein for failure of the indictment to state facts sufficient to constitute 
an offense against the United States.

^ ' 7 °  di8miM C °unt O n* ° * th® indictment on file  herein because the statute upon which said Count 
purports to be based, 18 U.S.C. 371, is void for vagueness, uncertainty and ambiguity and is in violation o f this 
Defendwit s right to equal protection of the law and to  due process o f law under the Fifth Amendment to  the 
Constitution of the United States.

DATED this 6th day o f September, 1972.

COMES NOW Defendant GEORGE L  MITCHELL and respectfully moves the Court to dismiss Counts 
through 32. inclusive, of the Indictment and the whole thereof on the following grounds and for the following 
reasons:

I.
That said Indictment and Counts 1 through 32 thereof, inclusive, does not state sufficient facts to 

constitute an offense against the United States.

II.
That the accusations set forth in Count 1 through 32, inclusive, o f said indictment are vague and indefinite 

as to the manner, means, and extent of the conspiracy alleged therein.

III.
That the allegations set forth in Count 1 o f said Indictment are vague and Indefinite in that the same fail to 

contain o r set forth the elements o f the offense intended by the Government to  be charged or to sufficiently 
apprise Defendant o f what he must be prepared to meet.

IV.
That the allegations set forth In Counts 2 through 32, inclusive, of said Indictment are vague and 

indefinite in that the same fail to contain or set forth the elements of the offense Intended by the Government 
to be charged or to sufficiently apprise Defendant of what he must be preparted to meet.

V.
This Defendant joins in all Motions made by a ll other Defendants.

Respectfully submitted this 6th day of September, 1972.

COMES NOW the defendants, HAROLD JACK SWARTHOUT and WILLIAM D. BETCHER. and 
respectfully move the Court to dismiss the Indictment, and all counts thereof, on the Following grounds:

I.
That said Indictment, and each count thereof, fails to alfege sufficient facts to constitute sn offense 

against the said defendants.

II.
That there is no jurisdiction o f the offenses alleged in the Indictment and each count thereof, according to 

the applicable statutes and the facts alleged.

III.
That the applicable statutes and the Indictment and each count thereof, are vague, ambiguous, and 

uncertain and fail to apprise the defendants o f the precise nature o f the Illegal acts complained of.

The defendants, and each of them, join in each and every other motion filed by the other defendants in 
this case.

DATED this 8th day of September, 1972.

The defendant, JOHN ELWAY. moves that the indictment be dismissed on the following grounds:

1). The indictment does not state facts sufficient to constitute an offense against the United States. 

THIS MOTION is predicated upon the records and file herein and upon the brief o f the defendant and co­
defendants filed for record herein and pursuant to Rule 12 o f the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Vasectomies increase

Zodiac News Service

The American Public Health As­
sociation reports that the number 
of vasectomy operations in the 
United States is increasing.

In 1970, 750,000 men underwent 
th e  v o l u n t a r y  s t e r i l i z a t i o n  
operation; in 1971, one m illion men 
.underwent vasetomies.

Germaine’s

Clothing and 
Weaving

All items hand made

10-6 Monday-Saturday 
722 South Hggins

Termpapers 
Unlimited, Inc.

295 Huntington Avenue 
Boston, Mass. 02115 

(617) 267-3000
MATERIALS IN OUR EXTENSIVE 

Research Library 
$2.45 per page

Research and Reference Only!

Guess the number* of Swingline 
Tot staples in the jar.
The ja r is approxim ately square 
—3" x 3 " x 4% ". Look fo r the 
c lue about "T o t” capacity.

The “ Tot 50s ”  is uncondition­
a lly  guaranteed. It staples, tacks, 
mends and costs only 98c sug­
gested retail price at Stationery, 
Variety and College Bookstores 
w ith  1,000 s ta p le s  and v in y l 
pouch. Sw ingline Cub Desk and 
Hand Staplers fo r $1.98 each.

Fill in coupon or send postcard. No 
purchase required. Entries must be 
postmarked by Nov. 30, 1972 and re­
ceived by Dec. 8, 1972. Final decision 
by an independent judging organization. 
In case of tie, a drawing determines a 
winner. Offer subject to all laws and 
void in Fla., Mo., Wash., Minn. & Idaho. 
IMPORTANT: Wfite your guess outside 
the envelope, lower letthand corner.

*C lue:
(You could fiiT * - 
between 200 e n d ^ ^ 5 § j 
300 Tots w ith  the 
Staples in the Jar.) 
Swingline Honda H 
P.O. Box 1
New York, N.Y. 10016
THERE A R E . .  STAPLES IN THE JAR

Address .  

C ity---------

S ta te - -Z ip _

re lephone N o..

2-00 Skillman A*f Long Island City. N.Y. 11101



FACULTY SKIERS ! !!

Big M ounta in  apartm en t ava ilab le 
For 7 2 -7 3  season by day, week, 

m onth  o r season. Specia l rates fo r 
Faculty g roups du rin g  season. W rite. 

T.D. Forester, F lathead V alley C om m un ity  
College, Kalispe ll, M ont. 752-3411 

Ext—40 3-5 p.m . da ily

pure, My
HOW WAS A W f  ISHY 

YOUR SUMMER "RUFUS '■ 
RUFUS? AMY MORE

I I'M  SACK 
WITH THOR"

"■THOR? MAM, I  CART 
FI6URE THAT M S OUT. 
WHAT COULD YOU POSSIBLY 
HAVE M  ’’COMMON. WITH 
A BLOND NORSE' 60D? 

■  /

WHAT A PUMP QUESTION!
STRENGTH, COURAGE 
STAMINA. VALOR, 
iNTREPiprry, m ettle, 
p lu c k  a n p  6 /tn ; 

OBVIOUSLY!
\

OH, I  SEE 
THE PARALLELS

NOW. I  SHOULD
I HOPE SO.

H u m an e society runs big  business
In 1971 2,155 cats and 1,075 dogs 
were put to sleep by the Missoula 
County Humane Society.

Last Februrary the animal shelter 
had 102 cats. This number has 
been the lowest this year for cats 
brought in each month. June was 
the highest month with 530 cats.

The low month for dogs so far this 
year was March when only 221 
dogs were admitted. July was the 
high month with 344 coming in.

About 25 to 30 per cent of the cats 
and 50 to 60 per cent of the dogs 
are taken by people, Barbara 
Dahlgren, secretary of the Mis­
soula Humane Society, told the 
Montana Kaimin.

When an animal is brought in, the

$ 2.00 $ 2.00 $ 2.00 $ 2.00 $ 2.00 
Check or money order to 
“The Little Red Hen," Box 
25. Missoula, Mont. 59801, 
BEFORE Oct. 10 will bring 
you a copy of “Never Write 
Your Congressman — Send 
Him a Check."

employes of the animal shelter 
compare it to listings of lost 
animals and call possible owners if 
descriptions match. A file of 
specific breeds of dogs or cats 
desired by people who have called 
also is kept. When a desired breed 
of animal is brought in, the people 
who wanted it are notified.

Many of the animals brought in are 
strays, according to employe, Jo 
Sexton. Others are animals that 
must be given up. Reasons forgiv­
ing up animals include moving out 
of town, moving into an apartment 
where animals are not allowed, 
having an allergy to an animal or 
not bei ng able to afford to keep the 
animal.

About 15 to 18 kittens and 6 cats 
are kept. The animal shelter has 37 
pens for dogs as well as an outside 
area in which the dogs are allowed 
to exercise.

The healthiest animals usually are 
the ones kept. Employes also try to 
keep a variety of breeds. Cats are 
given temporary distemper shots 
and are wormed. Because of lack 
of space, the rest of the animals 
brought in must be put to sleep in 
the shelter’s euthanair. The city- 
county dog pound also has a 
euthanair.

Dahlgren said, "Many beautiful 
animals are put to sleep which 
have done nothing except been 
born. The big problem is the pet 
population explosion.”

To counteract this, the humane 
society will refund up to $20 on an 
adoption fee if the new owner of a 
cat or dog returns with a receipt 
from a veterinarian saying the 
animal has been spayed or 
neutered. The adoption fee for cats 
is $1.50. The fee for dogs ranges 
from $5 to $25, depending on the 
breed.

Dahlgren said she thinks the 
ultimate solution to animal 
overpopulation lies in birth control 
for animals, an idea which is now in 
the experimental stage at the 
University of Colorado.

The cost of running the animal 
shelter comes to over $1,500 each 
month. In 1971 expenses totaled 
$22,000. The shelter receives 
$1,250 a year from United Givers 
Fund. The remaining money 
comes from the adoption fees, 
humane society membership dues 
and donations.

This new CBS TV one-hour 
musical is approximately 60 
minutes too long.

New York (N.Y.) Times
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The Marines 
are looking for 

a few good men 
who want to lead!

THE USM C OFFICER SELEC TIO N  TEAM  

IS C O M IN G  TO  UM  
Tuesday and W ednesday O ct. 3 and 4th 

9:30 to  2:30
AT  TH E PLA C E M E N T CENTER 

C A LL THE P LA C EM EN T CEN TER TO D A Y  

FOR AN A P P O IN TM E N T

Seniors & Graduates

Officer
Candidate

Class

Sophomores & Juniors

Eligibility
Seniors and graduates of 
accredited colleges and 
universities.

Pre-Commission Training
Requirements

One 12-week training
session after college
graduation.

Training Location 
Officer Candidates School, 
Marine Corps Base, 
Quantico, Virginia'

All precommissioning 
training during summer 
months
Age Less than 27'/2 when 
commissioned Less than 
27% for future flight 
officers

Marital Restrictions None 

Educational Requirements 
Seniors must have at least 
an overall "C" average, 
and obtain a bachelor’s 
degree before training.

Expenses During Training 

Travel to Quantico Is 
provided at government 
expense. All meals, text­
books, uniforms, etc., are 
furnished without cost.

Date of Commissioning 
Upon completion of 
12-week session.

Further Training 
Student aviators immedi­
ately begin approximately 
11 to 14 months of 
pilot training.

Student flight officers 
attend approximately 8 
months' training. At times, 
certain officers commis­
sioned through the AOC 
program are permitted to 
attend the Basic School 
prior to pilot or flight- 
officer training. ‘

Active Duty Requirements 

Varies from program to 
program. Check with yout 
Officer-Selection Officer.

Freshmen, 
Sophomors &Juniors

Platoon 
Leaders Class

Ground or Air

Eligibility
Second-term freshmen, 
sophomores and juniors in 
accredited colleges and 
universities.

Pre-Commission 
Training Requirements 
Two six-week training 
sessions during summer 
vacations. Juniors take 10 
weeks in one summer.

Training Location 
Officer Candidates School, 
Marine Corps Base. 
Quantico, Virginia.

All precommissioning 
training during summer 
months
Age Less than 27% when 
commissioned. Less than 
27% for future flight 
officers.

Marital Restrictions None.

Educational Requirements 

Students must maintain at 
least an overall “C” aver­
age in college, and must 
obtain a bachelor's degree 
before being commissioned.

Expenses During Training 
Travel to and from 
Quantico is provided at 
government expense. All 
meals, textbooks, uni­
forms, etc., are furnished 
without cost.

Date of Commissioning 
Usually the same day as 
from college.

Further Training 
Following attendance at 
the Basic School, student 
aviators begin approximately 
11 to 14 months of pilot 
training. Student flight 
officers attend approxi­
mately 8 months' training.

Active Duty Requirements 

Varies from program to 
program. Check with your 
Officer-Selection Officer.

NOTE: All Marine Officer Programs are under constant evaluation 
and modification, therefore, changes are common. Communicate with 
your Officer Selection Officer for current information.



AP in brief
The 95-day-old Northwest Airlines strike has ended. A com pany spokes­
man said Monday that m inimal service to the more than 50 cities served 
by the airline would be restored w ith in a week. W. J.Usery Jr., assistant 
secretary of labor who helped negotiate the settlement, said the contract 
must be submitted to the Federal Pay Board fo r approval but does not re­
quire ratification by the 1,600 pilots. Usery confirm ed that p ilots ' return- 
to-work provision was the final obstacle. When the pilots walked out 
June 30, a spokesman—Robert Rezenka—said there were 160 
unresolved issues, ranging from a more liberal po licy o f providing free 
passes for p ilots’ fam ilies to subsidization o f insurance premiums.

Cascade, Yellowstone and Silver Bow counties will be the major 
recipients of federal revenue sharing funds. Of the $20.6 m illion ten­
tatively earmarked fo r Montana, each o f the above counties w ill receive 
more than $1 m illion. Missoula County w ill receive $248,553 and the C ity 
of Missoula w ill receive $286,241, fo r a total o f $534,794.

An American and a Briton were arraigned In U.S. District Court In Billings 
Monday after attempting to extort $100,000 from the Montana Power Co. 
The pair had threatened to bomb a company power plant. Dennis 
Williams, 21, of Billings, and Nigel Mott, 22, o f W ilverhampton, England, 
were charged on tw o counts, conspiring to  obstruct commerce, and 
attempting to obstruct commerce. The maximum sentence on each 
count is 20 years in prison, a $10,000 fine, o r both.

Sen. George McGovern said yesterday President Nixon has given the 
United States the worst leadership in American history. In a speech to 
editors of United Press International in W ashington, the Democratic 
presidential nominee renewed his demands fo r face-to-face debates and 
defended his decision to drop Sen. Thomas Eagleton as his running 
mate. McGovern noted that Eagleton has been com paigning fo rh im  and 
said, “We can ill afford to debate this issue while death continues to stalk 
the face of Indochina and our own nation deteriorates under the worst 
leadership in our national history."

President Nixon and Soviet Foreign Minister Andrei Gromyko prepared 
yesterday to put Into effect a historic arms-limitation agreement. The 
two leaders w ill form ally exchange instruments o f ratifica tion at the 
White House Tuesday morning.

The United States has pulled its F-111 fighter-bombers out of combat. 
The action was taken after one of the controversial sw ing-w ing planes 
mysteriously vanished on its firs t mission since return ing to  the In­
dochina war last Thursday. The two crewmen of the plane are missing. 
The latest developments stirred a new politica l and m ilita ry controversy 
and appeared to be a repeat of 1968, when six F-111s firs t arrived at 
Takhli, Thailand. Two mysteriously vanished then, a th ird crashed from 
mechanical failure and the other three were returned to the United 
States.

KUFM to begin 
by election night
University o f Montana radio 
station KUFM should be on the air 
by election night, Nov. 7, ac­
cording to Philip Hess, chairman 
o f the radio-television department.

Hess said he had hoped to get 
KUFM on the a ir earlier in the 
quarter; but he has met w ith delays 
in obtaining new equipment.

This year KUFM w ill operate w ith a 
$30,000, 4.3-kilowatt transm itter 
obtained through a grant from  the 
Department of Health, Education 
and Welfare. Since 1965 the station 
had operated w ith a 10-watt 
transmitter. The new transm itter 
w ill put KUFM on the same power 
level as the commercial radio 
stations in Missbula.

The delivery of the transm itter was 
delayed about six weeks because 
of confusion between UM and the 
state purchasing agency in Helena 
c o n c e r n i n g  p u r c h a s i n g  
procedure.

The Northwest A irlines strike 
caused another delay. The bolts 
w ith which the new 120-foot tower 
are to be mounted were flown by 
Frontier A irlines to Billings. From 
Billings they had to be transported 
by truck because they were too 
large to fit in the cargo hatches of 
Frontier's tw in-engine propeller 
planes that fly  in to Missoula.

Assembly of the new equipment 
should take about three weeks, 
Hess said. After routine testing of 
the equipment, the station w ill then 
be ready to  go on the air.

KUFM plans to broadcast the 
November election returns.

UM has woman forestry professor
Nellie Stark, associate professor of 
soils, is the first woman faculty 
member of the University of Mon­
tana forestry school.

“The Lubrecht study was one of 
the determining reasons fo r my 
coming here," Stark said in an 
interview last week. The study, 
conducted northeast of Missoula, 
concerns the changes of organic 
matter in the ecosystem.

Stark presently is 
researching the 
e f f e c t s  o f  
nutrient cycling 
in the Lubrecht 
Ecosystem Pro­
ject, a study of 
th e  u l t i m a t e  
effect of land use 
on  s o i l  a n d  
nutrient cycling.

Stark presently is researching the 
effects of nutrient cycling in the 
Lubrecht Ecosystem Project, a 
study of the ultimate effect of land 
use on soil and nutrient cycling.

Stark explained that nutrient cycl­
ing is the movement of b io logically 
important elements from decaying 
organic matter into the soil and

Peanut shells recycled
Recycling is making it big in the 
peanut industry.

Georgia's peanut producers had 
been discarding peanut shells at 
the rate of 150,000 tons a year until 
recently. Now, the Georgia Tech 
Waste U tiliz a tio n  Lab has 
developed a method of turning the 
shells into valuable prodcuts. The 
shells can be compressed into 
Carbon Char" at about one-twen­

tieth the original volume. The char 
is then used to make either ac­
tivated carbon filters or charcoal 
briquettes for home barbeques.

The Republican boss said his re­
signation from the John Society 
was only a political move.

Detroit News

back into the plant. Additional 
elements brought in by rainfall and 
elements lost from  the land into 
streams also must be considered.

Stark is chairwoman of the 
National Committee on Ethics of 
the Ecological Society of America, 
a group formed to prevent un­
qualified persons from posing as 
e co lo g is ts . The co m m itte e  
recommended the establishment 
of the National Di rectory o f Profes­
sional Ecologists.

She also is com pleting a project 
researched in Reno, Nev., entitled 
"Nutrient Cycling in a Jeffrey Pine 
Forest Ecosystem." She has

received a $2,500 grant from  the 
Institute of M icrobio logy in New 
York to publish her study.

Stark has conducted nutrient cycl­
ing research in South America and 
said she expects to return there 
n e x t  S e p t e m b e r .  Sh e has 
published eight professional 
journals about nutrient cycling in 
the tropics.

She graduated from  Connecticut 
College, New London, Conn., in 
1958. In 1962 she graduated from 
Duke University, Durham, N.C., 
w ith a doctorate. Stark Comes to 
Missoula from  the University of 
Nevada.

Rings from  SlOO to  $10 ,00 0  Trade M ark Reg. A H. Pond Co

Address.

Love.
captured forever 
in the beautiful 
brilliance of 
a perfect diamond 
Keepsake...  
the perfect symbol 
of your 
special love.

r HOW  TO PLAN YOUR ENGAGEMENT AND WEDDING^
Send new 20 pg. booklet, "Planning Your Engagement and Wedding" plus 
full color folder and 44 pg. Bride's Book gift offer all for only 25*. F-72

N a m e ________________

State__________ |________  •

.KEEPSAKE DIAMOND RINGS. BOX 90, SYRACUSE. N.Y. 13201

u ti uampus i-ieaaquarters

Boone’s Farm

STRAWBERRY HILL 

APPLE WINE

C O L D  B E A R  

L U C K Y  L A G E R  D R A F T

$ 1 .45
$ 1.45
$ 1 .80
$ 1.10

Fairway Liquor Store

Western Warehouse Foods

Invites you to come and 
view their very large 

selectidn!

You can purchase many 
of your favorite foods 

at discount prices

Please bring THIS pass
(A FREE VISIT without membership fee)



^ O lO M B I^ T ib W O T O P  A D ®  $ T C R C O
CARAS PLAZA

1529 S ou th  Avenue W est

SUPERSCOPE
Y o u  n e v e r  h e a r d  i t  s o  g o o d

SONY,

The popular 110A makes a lot 
of friends everywhere It goes. 
News correspondents, execu­
tives, and students all agree that 
the 110A is hard to beat for 
great ' all-around performance 
and dependability.
FEATURES:
•  Built-In Condenser Microphone
•  Digital Tape Counter
•  Locking Fast-Forward and Rewind 

Buttons
•  Built-In Recharging C ircuit fo r 

Optional Nickel-Cadmium Battery 
Pack

•  Sonymatic Recording Control
•  Record Level and Battery Strength 

Indicator
•  End-of-Tape Alarm
•  Tone and Volume Controls
•  Built-In Extended Range Speaker
•  Operates in Any Carrying Position
•  Optional Car Battery Operation

$ 1 2 9 95

Sony Model TC-90 AC/DC  
Portable Cassette-Corder with 
Built-in Condenser Microphone

Here’s a truly versatile performer! 
Sony’s new Model TC-90 offers 
two microphones: a built-in 
professional condenser 
microphone for perfect 
"hands-off” recording, plus a 
Remote Stop/Start Microphone 
for dictation. It’s the best "under 
$100.00” cassette recorder you 
can buy!

FEATURES:
•  Built-In Condenser Microphone
•  Back-Space Review Button
•  Fast-Cueing
• Microphone and Auxiliary Inputs
•  Record Interlock
•  Sonymatic Recording Control
• Built-In Recharging C ircuit for

Optional Nickel-Cadmium Battery 
Pack ■

•  Record Level and Battery Strength 
Indicator

•  Tone and Volume Controls
•  End-of-Tape Alarm
• Locking Fast-Forward and Rewind

Buttons _  ...
• Operates in Any Carrying Position
•  Optional Car Battery Operation

The TC-60, Sony’s lowest-priced 
Cassette-Corder, is perfect for 
budget-m inded students and 
housewives, for personal cor­
respondence, or just for fun.

FEATURES:
•  AC/DC Operation
•  Push-Button Operation
•  Locking Fast-Forward and Rewind 

Buttons
•  Sonymatic Recording Control
•  Microphone and Auxilia ry Inputs
•  Tone and Volume Controls
•  Built-In Speaker
•  Record Interlock
•  Operates In Any Carrying Position
•  Remote Stop/Start Microphone

$ 9 9 95

Sony Model CF-350 AC/DC Cassette-Corder* 
AM/FM Radio Combination
with Built-In Condenser Microphone and Automatic Shut-Off 

If you're looking for more performance, the compact-size 
CF-350 is what you’ re after. A Built-In Condenser M icro­
phone and Automatic Shut-Off are just two of the reasons 
why the new CF-350 is such a good performer.

$ 1 3 9 95

FEATURES:
Recorder
e Built-In Condenser 

Microphone
• Sonymatic Recording 

Control
• Record Level/Battery 

Strength Indicator
• Variable Sound Monitor
• Automatic Shut-Off in 

Record and Play Modes
• Dual D ifferential- 

Balanced Flywheels

•  Servo-Control Motor 

Radio
• AM and FM Bands
•  Telescopic FM Antenna
•  Built-In Ferrite-Bar AM 

Antenna
•  AFC with Defeat Switch 

General
•  Optional Auto-Boat 

Cigarette Lighter Adapter

$ 1 5 9 "

Sony Model CF-450 
Deluxe AC/DC Cassette-Corder*
AM/FM Radio Combination
with Built-In Condenser Microphone and TMS

Extra features such as Automatic Total-Mechanism Shut-Off 
(TMS). Built-In Condenser Microphone, AM/FM Tuning/Re- 
cord Level/Battery Strength Indicator, and Three-Digit Tape 
Counter make the new CF-450 our finest portable mono­
phonic Cassette-Corder* AM/FM radio combination. The 
Sony CF-450. Another reason why you never heard it so 
good!

FEATURES:
Recorder
• Built-In Condenser 

Microphone
• Sonymatic Recording 

Conflrol
• Record Level/Battery 

Strength Indicator
•  Automatic Total- 

Mechanism Shut-Off 
(TMS)

• Dual Differential- 
Balanced Flywheels

• Three-Digit Tape Counter
•  Microphone and Auxiliary 

Inputs

Radio
• AM and FM Bands
•  Signal Strength Meter
• Telescopic FM Antenna
•  Built-In Ferrite-Bar AM 

Antenna
•  AFC with Defeat Switch 
General
•  Built-In Recharging 

C ircuit for Optional 
Nickel-Cadmium Battery 
Pack

•  Optional Auto-Boat 
Cigarette Lighter Adapter

.Top Drawer

C A R AS P LA ZA  

1531 S ou th  A venue W est

O pen ’t i l  9 p.m. on F riday

We have a special group 
of leather coats 20% off.

Want extra style and performance 
In a Cassette-Corder AM /FM  
radio combination? The new CF- 
200 is loaded with "extras,” in­
cluding Sonym atic recording  
control for perfect, distortion- 
free recordings.

FEATURES:
Recorder
•  Sonymatic Recording Control
•  Record Interlock
•  Speaker Monitor Capability
•  Record Level and Battery Strength 

Indicator

Radio
•  AM and FM Bands
•  Telescopic FM Antenna
•  Built-In Ferrite Bar AM 

Antenna

Be sure to register for 
the gift certificate drawing 

October 14.

Master Charge & Bankamericard Welcome

$ 8 9 95

BLANK TAPE PRICES
CASSETTES

0 3 0 ....................................................89
C-60................................................... 109
C-90................................................... 1.79
C-120................................................. 2.99
CRO-60.............................................. 2.99
UHF-120............................................3.99

REEL-TO-REEL
PR-150-1800......................................3.15
PR-240-2400......................................5.25
UHF-180-1800.................................. 4.75

8-TRACK
STEREO 8T-60.................................2.79

S kinny Fit.
Low  rise. S uper 
be ll. T o  f i t  you r 
life  style.

TOP DRAWER
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ART SUPPLIES 

1/3 OFF!!
Colum bia Paints

1806 South Ave.

Grizzlies drop non-conference game 24-6

Don’t Stick Your Head in the SAND!

Have a Hair Style 
fo r you short, 

long, or somewhere 
in between. 
All supplies 

fo r grooming care

JU n  $ ‘lUorfd
Barber - Styling - Capilo 

Salon

2210 BROOKS 

PHONE 543-4711

DAVE AVER 
JIM ALLEN 

RITA CULLIAN

The University of Pacific rode a 3- 
to u ch d o w n  p e rfo rm an ce  by 
halfback W illard Harrell to a 24-6 
non-conference football v ictory 
over the University of Montana 
G rizz lies  S a tu rday  n ig h t at 
Stockton, California

The University of Pacific Tigers 
were on the scoreboard firs t when 
kicker Mark Pash connected on a 
40-yard field goal attempt w ith 7:49 
remaining in the firs t quarter. Both 
teams battled on even terms fo r the 
remainder of the firs t quarter.

What may well have been the turn­
ing point o f the game came late in 
the second quarter when a 
personal foul penalty against Mon­
tana put the ball on the UM 36-yard 
line. The penalty nu llified a 56- 
yard punt by Montana’s Dave 
Harrington that would have put the 
football back on the U o f P 25-yard 
line.

The Tigers capitalized on the 
penalty several plays later when 
Harrell ran the ball in from the 7- 
yard line fo r the score. Pash made 
the extra point and the score was 
10-0, U of P.

The Tigers scored again three 
minutes later on a 10-yard spring 
by Harrell. Pash made the extra 
point good and it was 17-0 in favor 
of Pacific.

Montana surged back in the 
second half w ith a 78-yard scoring 
drive that ended when Montana 
halfback Jim Olson carried the ball 
into the end zone from  the T iger 7- 
yard line. Montana kicker Bob 
Turnquist missed the extra point 
attempt and the score was 17-6 in 
favor of the Tigers.

The Grizzlies threatened U o f P 
again midway through the fourth 
period, but the drive was stopped

GO-GO CONTEST

$75 First Prize

For £aqh Entry

Bikini Contest

TRADING POST

S A L O O N ,
OH THE n  SKIP fOUMULT CLUi 41

•  Foosball has been postponed 
until further notice.

•  O ff ic ia ls  are needed fo r  
Volleyball. Training sessions 
begin ton igh t at 7 p.m. in FH 214. 
No prior experience is necessary. 
If interested call 243-2802 o r stop 
by FH 205.

•  Women flag football players 
should pick up the ir flag belts as 
soon as possible in FH 213.

•  Graduate and part time students 
must pay a $2 quarterly fee to 
p a rtic ip a te  in  th e  Cam pus 
R ecrea tion  p rog ram s. T h is  
measure was approved by Central 
Board last spring. Fees can be paid 
at the  C am pus R ecrea tion  
Department O ffice o r at the 
Business Office.

•  T fie 'B ackpack trip  to  the Big 
Burn Area has been rescheduled 
from  Oct. 13-15 to Oct. 7-9.

PARTS
(All Makes and Models) 

Your NAPA Jobber 
Missoula M otor Parts 

Ph 533-6776 or 6181

•  Plans are now being made fo r a 
backpack study trip  in to the Rat­
tlesnake Mountains Oct. 6-8.

Today's Touch Football Schedule 
Men's League

Field one
6:00 p.m.—Phi Delta Theta vs Hot Turkey 

Field two
4:00 p.m —Druggies vs The Champs 
5:00 p.m.—Haugen's Hero's vs Omar 

and the Lugnuts
6:00 p.m.—All Freshman vs The Grady 

Bunch

Field three
4:00 p.m.— SAE vs Montana Flatus 

Company'
5:00 p.m.—AFROTC vs Craig Hall West 

Wing
6:00 p.m.—Eighth Floor Jesse vs RA's

Friday’s Results

ATO 2, Wretched Ruggers 0 
Sigma Phi Epsilon 9, IPQS 0 
Law School 8. The Barons 0 
Beavers 6. The Meat 0 

■ O  iOircte K-8, The Hump Hunters 6
* '8VOF*5.'The Yorga Clan 0

Yesterday's Results 

Women’s League
Varsity Virgins 32, Delta Gamma 0 
Turkeys 8. Kat 2 
Crushers won by forfeit

Men's League
Cunning Ringetits 1, Army ROTC 0 
Sigma Chi 7, Phantom Ox 6 
BBDB 2, Mannelly's Mauraders 0 
Ebony Omega 6. The Pansy's 0 
Student Association 9, Phuggs 0 
Blue Fins vs Chicken Chokers rescheduled

on the U of P 26-yard line when 
quarterback Rock Svennugsen 
failed to reach the first-dow n 
marker on a fourth down play.

Pacific took over the football w ith 
8:40 le ft in the game and started a 
71-yard scoring drive that ended 
when Harrell ran the ball in from 
the Grizzly two-yard line fo r his 
th ird touchdown o f the game.

The Tigers failed to complete one 
pass.

Montana head football coach Jack 
Swarthout said, ‘‘They outplayed 
us and deserved to win the ball 
game," then added, "but we played 
a real good football team."

The loss has no effect on Mon­
tana’s conference record. The 
Grizzlies are currently tied for 
first place in the Big Sky 
conference w ith Montana State 
and Boise State. Boise beat Weber 
State 49-16 Saturday and Montana 
State beat Idaho 17-3 to boost the ir 
conference records to 1-0 and 
place them in the three-way tie for 
first place w ith Montana.

Priestly leads 
UM runners
Jun io r Wes Priestly turned in the 
top time fo r the University of Mon­
tana cross country team during 
time tria ls held at the UM go lf 
course last weekend.

Priestly finished the five-m ile 
course in a time of 20:35.8 Friday 
because a class conflic t prevented 
him from running w ith the 
rem a inder o f the  team  on 
Saturday.

Saturday’s tria ls saw Doug Darko, 
George Cook and John O’Neil 
cross the finish line together in a 
time of 20:37.7, nearly 2 seconds 
oehind Priestly’s time.

Cross country Coach Harley Lewis- 
pointed out that it would be unfair 
to compare Priestly’s tim e with the 
times recorded Saturday. "They 
were two different races,” Lewis 
said, "but Wes looked very good.”

Boyd Collins finished fourth Satur­
day with a time of 20:51, while 
Terry Pitts and Bob Yarborough 
both were clocked at 22:22. Mike 
Hotzle was timed at 23:53.

Lewis said having five men run the 
five-mile course under 20:51 was 
outstanding. "I th ink we have an 
excellent team, and if we get Hans 
Templeman back we'll have six 
strong runners,” Lewis said. Tem- 
plemen is out w ith a knee injury.

Lewis praised Butte freshman 
John O ’Neil fo r his performance 
Saturday. “ His effort was outstan­
ding fo ra  freshman. He is going to 
be a fine runner," he said.

The Grizzlies open the 1972 
season this Saturday at Moscow, 
Idaho.

Amateur athletic 

foundation proposed
Washington AP

A bill designed to boost America’s 
fortunes in future O lympics was in­
troduced in the Senate Wednes­
day.

The measure, co-sponsored by 
Sens. Mike Gravel, D-Alaska, and 
Strom Thurmond, R-S.C., w ill 
create a National Amateur Sports 
Foundation to fund sports facilities 
and tra in in g  p rog ram s and 
develop greater cooperation 
a m o n g  e x i s t i n g  s p o r t s  
organizations.

In in troducing the bill on the 
Senate floor, Thurmond said the 
Foundation “w ill work with the 
p r e s e n t  a m a t e u r  a t h l e t i c  
organizations but is in no way an 
attempt to surplant o r assume con­
trol over these organizations."



Lighthouse 
to perform here 
Saturday night
Lighthouse, a Canadian rock 
group, acclaimed by the New York 
Times as "making first class pop 
music” will perform in the UC 
Ballroom, Saturday, Oct. 7 at 9 
p.m.

Lighthouse is a veteran of 
Carnegie Hall and has four 
members trained in the classical 
tradition of music.

Lighthouse has two albums to their 
credit—"One Fine Morning,” ,
featuring the title song, and “ Hats 
Off (to the Stranger).”  Their latest 
album release is “Thoughts of 
Movin On.”

Tickets are on sale at the UC ticket 
office and the Mercantile Record 
Shop at $2 for University students 
and $3 for the general public.

goings on "fe PIZZA and BEEFT *

Sergeant O’Brian was highly 
respected in the police department 
and had spent the last four years 
working as a undercovars man.

Cleveland (Ohio) Daily News

•  The Snowbowl Ski Patrol will 
hold an organizational meeting 
Tuesday at Vo-Tech at 8 p.m. All 
m em b er s  and p r o s p e c t i v e  
members are invited.

•  The Women's Liberation Group 
will meet Wednesday at 7:30 p.m. 
in room 211 of the Venture Center.

•  Weekly testimony meetings of 
the campus Christian Science 
Organization will be held Tues­
days at 7 p.m. in Music 103.

•  The Campus'Crusade for Christ 
will hold a student mobilization 
meeting today from 7 to 8 p.m. at 
Jesse Hall in the 11th floor lounge.

•  Saturday art enrichment classes 
for Missoula area children will 
again be offered beginning Oct. 7 
through Nov. 18. Fee is $3.50. For 
information call 243-4181.

•  Phi Sigma Biological Honorary 
will meet Wednesday at noon. A 
meeting at the biological station

•  Bearpaws w ill meet tonight at 
6:30 in the 11th floor lounge of 
Aber Hall. All interested persons 
are welcome.

Classified advertising will be accepted Monday through Thursday, 9 a.m. to 
4 p.m. only and Friday 9 a.m. to 1 pjn. Call 243-6541.

(No change in copy in consecutive insertion)
If errors are made in advertisement, immediate notice must be given the 
Montana Kaimin since it is responsible for only one incorrect insertion.
First insertion (5 words per line) ------------------------------------------- 25*
Consecutive insertions--------------------------------------------------- -----

Deadlines: Noon the day preceding publications. _________

1. Lost and Found
LOST: Siamese kitten, 8 weeks old, Uni­

versity area, reward. 728-4651, 437
University Ave.___________  3-4p

LOST: Identification bracelet, inscribed
Nlcki. Call 543-3623.__________ 3-4p

LOST: Help! Cronini has lost his.great 
cat, Casey, from 525 E. Front. Orange 
Tiger, male, one year old. Friendly. 
If found, call 543-7111. after 6:30, 728-
4027._____________ __________3-2p

FOUND: Single key by Beckwith. Con 
tact Kaimin Office J206.

WANTED
549-8074.

French tutor for speaking.
___________1-Sp

PEMBROOK Welsh Corgi AKC regis­
tered puppies. Call 2T3-6794 after _ 6

l-8p
One female puppy. Beagle-cross, 

good family dog, five 
months old. 549-1038 after 8 p.m. and

FREE
has shots, 

hs old. 
before 8 ajn. 2-5p

3-4p
FOUND: Call Liz at 549-5243 if you lost 

something SATURDAY night at the 
Mission Mountain dance. State where
and what lost._______________ 3-lp

LOST: Ring of keys, 20 on ring, in UC 
or vicinity. Reward. 728-4471. l-3p

WELCOME back to Triangle Ice Cream 
Parlor. Try our new Pig Trough. 
Good food. Holiday Village. 2-4p 

LIKE to try a funky place? The Shack, 
223 W. Front. Michelob $1.25 pitcher.

or vicinity. Reward. 
3. Personals
NIXON OR McGOVERN: Well, no one 

cares what you think unless you are 
registered to vote by Oct. 8. Your 
place or mine. Paul Nockleby, 415 
Miller, 243-5249 any evening. 3-3p 

PREGNANCY Referral Service. Week­
days 4:30 to 6:30 except holidays. 243-
6171._______________ _______ 1-tfc

VOTE for Impartial Justice. So Vote 
for Jack Patterson — for District 
Judge. Paid political advertisement.
Students for Patterson.________2-2p

PEOPLE interested in working on pop- 
ular concerts, lectures, films, coffee 
houses or cultural events are invited 
to drop by the ASUM offices and 
place an application to be on one of 
the committees. All applicants will be 
contacted and interviewed. Those ap­
plying last year are asked to resub­

pen til 4 a.m. Friday and Saturday. 
Traditionally famous chicken dinner
only $1.75.__________________1-tfc

WESTERN VILLAGE: East Missoula, 
horses for rent, general consignment 
auction every Friday* at 6:30 p.m. 
Trading post, buy, sell or trade — 
open every day. 549-2451. 1-tfc

19. Wanted to Buy__________
PRINCIPLES of Economics — MICRO 

by Willis Peterson. Call 543-4220. 3-4p 
BARDIS FISCHER book “God or Cea- 

sar.“ Call 549-5444 after 4 p.m. l-8p
20. Wanted to Rent__________
WANTED TO RENT: Hammond B-3

organ with Leslie speaker. Contact 
ASUM Program Council. l-8p

21. For Sale

mit applications since many addresses 
' phone numbers have changed.

2-tfcand

6. Typing
TYPING, my home, any kind. 543-7893.
___________________________l-8p
BEST Bargain Typing — Professional, 

term paper, thesis. Experienced. 
speedy. 728-4946. 1-tfcp

40-WATT HARMON KARDON stereo. 
Garrard record changer, four speak­
ers, $100. Call 728-4696 after 6 p.m.__________________3-4p

FOR SALE — From Dr. Turner’s es- 
tate: Matching couch and chair, twin 
beds with headboards, paperback 
books, odds and ends. 20y Takima 
Drive between 10 a.m. and 7 p.m. 3-lp 

CRIB and mattress, excellent condition,
$35. 728-2929.________________3-4p

AM/FM TUNER with 8-track tape deck. 
Must sell, need cash. $200 with fifty
tapes. 543-5936. 3-4p

will be discussed. Undergraduate 
students majoring in the biological 
sciences are invited.

•  The Missoula Recreation Dept, 
is offering a class in photography 
beginning Tuesday at 7 p.m. at 
Hellgate High School. Fee for the 
10-week course is $2.50 and may 
be paid at the recreation office in 
City Hall or at the first class 
meeting.

•  Everyone is invited to a popular 
concerts meeting Wednesday at 3 
p.m. in the ASUM Conference 
Room.

•  Items for Goings On should be 
mailed or brought in to the Mon­
tana Kaimin office, J 206. No 
telephone calls w ill be accepted 
Items will be run once.

‘Black Orpheus’ 
presented tonight
“ Black Orpheus,” a Brazilian film  
directed by Marcel Camus, w ill be 
shown tonight at 9 in the UC 
Ballroom. Admission is free.

“ Black Orpheus” retells the legend 
of Orpheus and Eurydice in a 
modern setting. In the Negro sec­
tion of Rio de Janeiro, Orpheus 
played by Breno Melo, is a street­
car conductor and Eurydice, 
played by Marpessa Dawn, is a 
country gjrl fleeing from a man 
sworn to kill her.

“ Black Orpheus” won the Grand 
PrLx award at the 1959 Cannes Film 
Festival, and the 1959 Academy 
Award for the best foreign film,

Film Quarterly said, “ No doubt this 
film  won its prize at Cannes 
because, in French terms, it is an 
unusual item: a giant Technicolor 
extravaganza, well laced with ex­
oticism."

The New York Times said the film  
“fills the ears and eyes . . .  it is the 
music, the movement, the storm of 
color that goes into the two-day 
festival."

Nixon peace plan 

did exist in 1968
College Press Service

Richard Nixon DID have a secret 
peace plan in 1968.

During the presidential campaign, 
Nixon told Richard Whalen, one of 
his speechwriters: “ I’ve come to 
the conclusion that there’s no 
way to win the war. But we can’t 
say that, of course. In fact, we have 
to seem to say the opposite, just to 
keep some degree of bargaining 
leverage.” The quote appears in a 
new book by Whalen,”  Catch the 
Falling Flag.”

$1.00 5 p.m. to 1:30 a.m.

10" Sausage, Beef, Pepperoni, Cheese 
And Glass of Beer

9 p.m. to 2 a.m.

50$ Highballs 
$1.00 Six Pack Lucky

1 0  A

25$ Schooners 

$1.00 Pitchers

H p f ite U fa u a

FREE POPCORN

POPCORN  
IS G O O D FOOD

And we’re giving It awayl 

Through the 16th, we’re giving 

away 2 pound bags of popcorn  

with the purchase of a 

West Bend 4 qt. popper.

They feature

Fast popping — No shaking 

Polished aluminum — Cord included 
with metal lid

ASSOCIATED STUDENT STORE

POPCORN
POPPERS

$ 8 9 5

8. Help Wanted
WOULD you like to work on programs 

like Virgil Fox or opera or? Come by 
the Program Council office and ask 
about being area coordinator for ex­
perimental-cultural events. Applica­
tion deadline Oct. 5. ~ 1 ̂ 5p

10. Transportation

SLEEPING BAG, size 11 ski boots, ski 
rack, two large ski sweaters, one 
lamp, one metal file cabinet and fold­
ers, one shortwave radio, two winter 
coats, size large and extra-large. Call
543-4220.____________________3-4p

19" MOTOROLA black and white TVs 
for sale, $50 each. Bel Air Motel, 300
E. Broadway._______________ l-5p

12" TV, great shape. 728-2696 after 5.
____________l-3p

RIDE needed to Portland, 
Susan 243-4905._________

help.
3-3p

16. Automobiles for Sale
1963 V.W. BUS, good condition, $350.

Call 549-2012.__________________ 3-4p
1966 FORD Custom for sale. In  good

shape. Make reasonable offer. Call 
543-7636._______________________3-2p

1964 FORD Fairlane, good condition,
best offer. 543-6875. l-6p

1967 CORVETTE 327 c.L, 350 h.p., very
good condition, 543-6875.________ l-6p

1967 V.W. Bug, good condition, $700. 
Phone 243-4481 or 549-1762.______l-3p

1971 V.W. Squareback, five radials, 
bought in Germany, 13,000 miles, 
$2,250. 1968 Roadrunner 383 four-bar­
rel, full race cam, automatic, PS and 
PB, $1,250. Call Jim 549-2376. 2-3p

18. Miscellaneous________________
DRUMMER looking for other musicians 

to form a group. Want only serious 
professional musicians. 320 Miller 
Hall, 243-2625, ask for Ron. To start 
immediately.__________________ l-4p

$2.00 $2.00 $2.00 $2.00 $2.00 Check or 
money order to “The Little Red Hen,” 
Box 25, Missoula. Mont. 59801, BE­
FORE Oct. 10 will bring you a copy 
of “Never Write Your Congressman 
— Send Him a Check.” l-6p

ONE DOG HOUSE, 
Best offer. 549-103! 
before 8 a.m.____

one dot 
f  after e

kennel, 
pan. or 

2-5p
22. For Rent
FEMALE graduate student or older 

woman—-furnished second-floor room. 
Kitchen and laundry privileges. $50 
a month. 728-1049 before 2:p0 p.m. 
Four blocks from U of M.______ 3-4p

ROOMMATE WANTED — either sex — 
to share two-bedroom apt. with male
— 132 Monroe before 5._________l-4p

ROOMMATE WANTED: Own room 
with kitchen and laundry facilities. 
728-4485. l-4f

27. Bicycles_____________________
TWO 10-speed bikes. Both in excellent 

condition. $75 each. 543-6114.____ 3-2p
SCHWINN Supersport, 

6367.
543-
3-4p

GOOD SELECTION of used bikes. Big 
Sky Cyclery, 2025 S. Higgins. 543-3331.

l-8p
28. Motorcycles
BRIDGESTONE 100 Trail, great shape. 

Will deal, need school money. Call
549-5248 after 8 p,m.___________ 3-4p

1970 HONDA 350 SL, one of those end- 
of-the-season deals. 549-0633, or see at 
1509 River Road, No. 8 Leisure. 1-tfc

PEACE CORPS/VISTA 
ON CAMPUS NOW

APPLICATIONS ARE NOW BEING ACCEPTED FROM SENIORS AND 
GRADUATE STUDENTS IN THE FOLLOWING DISCIPLINES:

PEACE CORPS
MBA’s/BBA’s
MATH
SECONDARY ED. 
ARCHITECTURE 
NURSING 
HOME EC.
CIVIL ENGINEERING 
PHYSICAL SCIENCES 
PHYS EDI RECREATION 
BUSINESS ED.
FORESTRY
INDUSTRIAL ARTS/VOC ED

VISTA
SOCIOLOGY
GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING 
EDUCTION (PRE-SCHOOL) 
MBA’s/BBA’s 
HOME EC.
PSYCHOLOGY
LAW
ARCHITECTURE 
SOCIAL SCIENCES 
LIBERAL ARTS 
JOURNALISM 
ECONOMICS

Recruiting representatives will be on campus Monday thru Friday in 
Placement Office, Liberal Arts Bldg. 9 a.m. - 4 p.m.
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